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This is an ACCA “violent felony” issue case. So here we go down the rabbit
hole again to a realm where we must close our eyes as judges to what we know as
men and women. It is a pretend place in which a crime that the defendant
committed violently is transformed into a Reiolent one becausaher
defendants at other times may have been convicted, or future defendants could be
convicted, of violating the same statute without violence. Curiouser and curiouser
it has all become, as the holding we must enter in this case shows. Still we are
required to follow the rabbit.

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Terrance Tyrone Davis was convicted of being a felon in possession of a
firearm, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 822(g)(1). Based in pardn hisprior Alabama
conviction for first degree sexuabuse, the district couehhanced his sentence
under the Armed Career Criminal Act, 18 U.S.®28(9. That law etablishesa
mandatory minimum sentence of 15 years for defendamacted of violating
8 922(g) who havat leasthree prior convictionfor violent felonies or serious
drug offenses. Davis contends thatler Alabama lawfirst degree sexual abuse
does not qualify as a violent felony for ACCA purposes.

In 2012 Davisvasindicted in Alabama state court for first degree raplee
indictment stated that “Davis. ., a male, did engage in sexual intercourse with

[the victim], a female, by forcible compulsion, in violation of [Alabama’s first
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degree rape statute]He pleaded guilty tthelesser included felony offense of
first degreesexual abusen violation of Alabama Code B3A-6-66, instead of the
rape charge.

In 2015 Davis wasgain convictegdthis time forbeing a felon in possession
of a firearm. The presentence investigation report determinedhbatas an
armed career crimal based on threearlierconvictions: (1) a 1998 conviction for
third degree robbery, in violation of AlamaCode §813A-8-43; (2)a 2003
conviction for second degree assault, in violation obAmaCode 813A-6-21;
and (3)the 2012 conviction for first degree sexual abursiolation of Aldbama
Code 813A-6-66. Basedn parton its determination that Davis was an armed
career criminalthe PSRcalculated a total offense level of 31 and a criminal
history category of VI, yielding an advisory guidelines rang&88& to 235 months
imprisonment.

Davis objected to uisg his sexual abuse conviction to enhance his sentence
under the ACCAcontending thabased on the Supreme Court’s decision in

Johnsorv. United Statesh59 U.S. 133, 130 &£t. 1265 (2010), it does nqualify

as a violent felony Over his objection, the district cotncludedhatthe
conviction doegategorically qualyf asa violent felonyandthe court treatetlim

asan armed career criminal sulfjéa the 15year mandatory minimum sentence
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Daviswas sentenced to 188 monthdiich waseight months above the mandatory
minimumand at the low end of his advisory guidelines range
Il. THE ACCAFRAMEWORK

Under the ACCA, a defendant who is convictetheihg a felon in
possession of a fireari® subject to 45-year mandatory minimum sentence if he
has three prior convictions “for a violent felony or a serious drug offense.” 18
U.S.C. 8924(e)(1). The ACCA defines a violent felony as any crime pubisha
by a term of imprisonment exceeding one year that:

() has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of
physical force against the person of another; or

(i)  is burglary, arson, or extortion, involves use of explosives, or
otherwise involves conduct that presents a serious potential risk
of physical injury to another.

Id. 8924(e)(2)(B). This case involves orthe firstpartof that definition,
§ 924(e)(2)(B){), which is known ashe elements clause.

“Whether a particular conviction is a violent felony for purposes of the

ACCA is a question of law we considégnovo” United States v. Gungg42

F.3d 1156, 1160 (11th Cir. 2016yhe answeheredepends omwhether one of the
elements required by the statute of conviction is “the use, attempted use, or
threatened use of physical force against the person of arioltget.S.C.

8 924(e)(2)(B)(i). If so, the conviction qualifieas a violent felony; if notf i

doesn't.
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To determine whether the statute of conviction “has as an element the use,
attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against the person of another,”
18 U.S.C. 824(e)(2)(B)(i),we are confined to looking #te fact of conviction

and theelements required for convictiotunited States v. Hill799 F.3d 1318,

1322 (11th Cir. 2015); United States v. Braun, 801 F.3d 1301, 1303 (11th Cir.

2015);United States v. Estrella, 758 F.3d 1239, 1249 n.4 (11th Cir. 2684el nlso

Taylor v. United Statest95 U.S. 575, 600, 110 6t. 2143, 2159 (1990):All

that counts .. are the elements of the statute of conviction,” not the “specific

conduct of [a] particular offender.” Mathis v. United States, 579 U.S. |, 136

S.Ct. 2243, 225352 (2016) (quotation marks omitted).

We applyfederal lawin interpretingthe ACCA,but state lawin determining
the elements of state offenskeeping in mind thadtate law is what the state
supremecourt says that it isJohnson559 U.Sat 138, 130 SCt. at1269
(explaining that when deciding whether a prior conviction is a “violent felony”
under the ACCA, “[w]e a . . . bound by [state court#iterpretation of state law,
including its determination of the elementdtbk statute of conwtion]’); Braun,

801 F.3d at 1303 (“We are bound by federal law when we interpret terms in the
ACCA, and we are bound by state law when we interpret the elements déagtate
crimes.”);Estrellg 758 F.3d at 1249 n{xplaining that “the gestion we are

answering here is whether those elements as defined by state law, including state
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court decisions,” qualify for a federal sentence enhancement); United States v.

RosalesBruno, 676 F.3d 1017, 1021 (11th Cir. 2012) (“[W]e look to [state] case

law to determine whether a conviction under [a state statute] necessarily involves
the employment of ‘physical force’ as that term is defined by federal law.”).

The Supreme Court has held that we must first employ what is known as the
“categorical apprazh.” Hill, 799 F.3d at 1322Underthat approachregardless of
what the true facts aréye presume that the state convictiogsted uporthe least

of theactscriminalized by the statute. . .” EsquivetQuintana v. Sessions, 581

U.S. 137 S.Ct. 1562, 15682017) (alterabns and quotation marks omitted)

see, e.qgBraun 801 F.3cht1307. And then we mudiecide ifthe least of the acts

criminalized includes the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force
against another persat8 U.S.C. §8924(e)(2)(B)(i). If not, that is the end of our
inquiry and the prior conviction does not count as a violent felony under the
elements clause.

The inquiry is more complicatesthen the statute of convictionakes
multiple acts criminal, if therare multiple ways to commit the crime that the
statute defineslf that issq, as it often isywe have todetermine whether thetatute
Is indivisible, meaning that it includes multiple ways of committing same
offense, otis insteadlivisible, meaning that it listwltiple offenses Mathis 136

S.Ct. at 2249 If the statute is indivisibleye use the categorical approadh.that
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case a conviction under it qualifies as a violent felony only if adictd
criminalized in the stateinvolve the use of physical force against the person of
another.

But if the statute is divisible, we employ a modification of the categorical
approach, aptly known as the “modified categorical apprdaxidetermine
“which crime in the statut®rmed the basiof the defendant’s convictidn.
Gundy, 842 F.3d at 1162Under tle modified categoricapproachwe canook
at certain judicial records, such as the indictment or the plea collogorder to
determine which of the multiple crimes listed in the statwedefendant was

convicted of committing Shepard v. United States, 544 U.S. 13, 26, 1Z&.S.

1254, 1263 (2005)If we can tell‘which statutory phrase the defendant was

necessarily convicted undetJhited States v. Howayd@42 F.3d 1334, 1345 (11th

Cir. 2014) we return to the categorical approach apgly itto that statutory
phrase.Doing sorequires us taecidewhether the least of the acts criminalizsd
that statutory phraggnstead of whether all of the acts criminalizedaliyof the
statutory phrases) includes the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical
force against another pers@s required by the ACCA’s elements clauist,

U.S.C. 8924(e)(2)(B)(i). The Supreme Court has held thihe“physical force”

thatthe elements clause requiresyslent force —that is, force capable of
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causing physical pain or injury to another persaijohnson559 US. at 140, 130
S.Ct. at 1271.

The question we face in this appeal is whether Alabama'’s first degree sexual
abusestatute as interpreted by the Alabama Supreme Coexessarilyncludes
as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of violent physical force.

[Il. DIVISIBILITY OF FIRST DEGREE SEXUAL ABUSE

Alabama Code 83A-6-66(a) which is thestatute Davis was convicted of
violating, provides:

A person commits the crime of sexual abuse in the first degree if:

(1) He subjects another person to sexual contact by forcible
compulsion; or

(2) He subjects another person to sexual contact who is inleapt
consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally
incapacitated.

Ala. Code 813A-6-66(a). Because the statulists multiple acts thaeachqualify
as a crime, we must first determineghé statutes divisible or indivisible.

There arghree methodfor determinng whetherastatuteis divisible. See
Gundy, 842 F.3d at 1163. First, “the statute on its face may resolve the igdue.”
(quotation marks omitted). Second, “[i]f a precedential state court decision makes
clear trat a statute’s alternative phrasing simply lists alternative methods of

committing one offense, such that a jury need not agree on which alternative

method the defendant committed in order to sustain a conviction, then the statute is
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not divisible.” 1d. (Quotation marks omitted). And third, “if state law fails to

provide clear answers, federal judges [may look at] the record of a prior conviction
itself. . .. for the sole and limited purpose of determining whether the listed items
are elements of the offensed. (quotation marks omitted).

On its face 8l3A-6-66(a)liststwo separate crimes: sexual abuse by forcible
compulsion and sexual abuse of a person incapable of cdoysexason of being
physically helpless or mentally incapacitatéd a resilt, we turn tathe modified
categorical approach to determine which of those crimes Davis was convicted of
committing. Seeid. at 1162.

It is clear from Davis’ plea colloquy that he was convicted of sexual abuse
by forcible compulsionWhenDavis pleaded guilty to first degree sexual abuse,
the prosecutor described the factual basis of tregddollows:

[T]he State would expect to show that on or about March 5th of 2011

here in Mobile County the victim who was 17 years of age entered the

defencént’'s apartment. And while she was in his apartment the
defendant assaulted her and during the assault he placed his hands on
her vaginal area, that a withesswell, she was able to leave and the

witness observed her leaving. And she was sent to USKréhis
and Women Hospital.

And Davis agreed with the State’s recounting of those fadtsre is nothing in
the plea record or elsewhere to indicate thavittem was physically helpless
mentally incapacitateds those terms are defined in the AlabaCode SeeAla.

Code 813A-6-60(6) (defining mental incapacitation as being “temporarily
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incapable of appraising or controlling his conduct owing to the influence of a
narcotic or intoxicating substance administered to him without his consent, or to
anyother incapacitating act committed upon him without his consedt'§;13A-
6-60(7) (defining physical helplessness as being “unconscious or for any other
reason .. physically unable to communicate unwillingness to an ad¥g.
conclude, as the district court did, that Davis was convicted of sexual abuse by
forcible compulsionin violation of 813A-6-66(a)(1).

Davis contendgshatsexual abuse by forcible compulsionder § 13A6-
66(a)(1)is itself divisible. Under Alabamadw, sexual abuse by forcible
compulsion requirethat the defendartave(1) subjeceda person (2)o sexual
contact (3)y forcible compulsion. Ala. Codel®A-6-66(a)(1). Davis argues
that, based on Alabaarcase lawthe element oforcible compulsiorcan be
satisfied in‘multiple ways,” making it divisible.He is right in his premise but
wrongin his conclusion

The Alabama Code defines forcible compulsiofiplhysical force that
overcomes earnest resistance or a threat, express or impliedatest @lperson in
fear of immediate death or serious physical injury to himself or another gerson
Id. § 13A-6-60(8). Broken down, that definitiodescribes three waysjury could
find that a defendant uséakcible compulsion: (1physical force that overcomes

earnest resistance; (@) express threat that places a person in fear of immediate

10
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death or serious physical injury; or @) implied threat that places a person in fear
of immediate death or serious physical injuBgeeid.

The fact thathere are three ways sétisfying theforcible compulsion
elementdoes naothowevermakeforcible compulsiordivisible. If “[the] jury need
not agree on which alternativeethod the defendant committed in @rdlo sustain
a conviction, then the statute is not divisiblé&tundy, 842 F.3d at 1163 (quotation
marks omitted).And under Alabama case law, the jury does not need to agree on
which type of forcible compulsion a defendant usedrder to convict himfo

sexual abuse by forcible compulsiofee Powev. State, 597 S&@d 721,726-28

(Ala. 1991) (addressinthhethree types of forcible compulsion to determine

whether there was sufficient evidence to convict the defendant under at least one
type) Sexual abuse by forcible compulsion is not itself divisibtewe use the
categorical approach to determine whethqualifiesasaviolent felory under the
ACCA.

V. CATEGORICAL ANALYSIS OF SEXUAL
ABUSE BY FORCIBLE COMPULSION

The AlabamaCode defines sexual abuse by forcible compulsion as simply
“subject[ing]another person to sexual contact by forcible compulsiéita. Code
8 13A-6-66(a)(1). “Sexual contact” is defined as “[a]ny touching of the sexual or
other intimate parts of a person not married to the actor, done for the purpose of

gratifying the sexual desire of either pdrtig. 8 13A-6-60(3), and “forcible

11
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compulsion” is defined d$p]hysical force that overcomes earnest resistance or a
threat, express or implied, that places a person in fear of immediate death or
serious physical injury to himself or another persom § 13A-6-60(8)! We must
determine whether those definitions necessardiude the use, attempted use, or
threatened use of violent force against another person. 18 U.S.C.

8§ 924(e)(2)(B)(i)Johnson559 U.S. at 140, 130 &€t. at 1271.

The sexual contact element of sexual abuse by forcible compulsion cannot
satisfy the elements clause’s “physical force” requirement because it does not
require any “violent force."SeeJohnson559 U.S. at 3940, 130 SCt. at 1269
71 (emphasis omittedBecause sexual contact, as defined hBA-6-60(3), can
be satisfied by “[a]ny touching,” or what the Supreme Coudbimsortermed
“merest touching,” 559 U.S. at 139, 130 S.Ct. at 1@#3annot satisfy the physical
force requirement. That leaves only the forcible compulsion element to supply the
missing requirement.

The forciblecompulsion element appears to require either the use, attempted
use, or threatened use of violent force. The statute defines “forcible compulsion”
as physical force that overcomes earnest resistance, an express threat that places a

person in fear of immediate death or serious physical injury, or an implied threat

! “The definition of the term ‘“forcible compulsion’ as an element is the samedtess
of whether the offense charged is for fidgtgree rape, firalegree sodomy, or firstegree
sexual abuse."Ex parte Williford 931 So. 2d 10, 14 n.7 (Ala. 2005). For that reasoname
and dorely on Alabamalecisions addressing rape by forcible compulsion and sodomy by
forcible compulsion as well as those addressing sexual abuse by forcible siompul

12
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that places a person in fear of immediate death or serious physical injury. Ala.
Code 813A-6-60(8). “Serious physical injury” is defined as “[p]hysical injury
which creates a substantial risk of death, or which causes serious and protracted
disfigurement, protracted impairment of health, or protracted loss or impairment of
the function of any bodily organ.ld. 8 13A-1-2(14). Onewould expect that a
threat to inflict those types of injuriesi@ified as a threat of physical forc&hat
Is how we would interpret the statute. The problem, as Davis points out, is that
some Alabama decisions interpret the implied threat alternative elengeniay
that waters it down.

The first of those is thAlabama Supreme Courtowedecision. See597
So.2dat722. Thedefendanta 40yearold man,was convicted of first degree
rape of his 1dyearold daughter, N.S., by forcible compulsionviolation of
Alabama Code 83A-6-66. He had told N.S. to lie on top of him, which she did,
and he then put his penis in her vagitd.at 723, 728 AlthoughN.S. testified
that she was afraid of her father, she also testified that he “did not expressly
threaten her before or during timeident” 1d. at 723. There was no evidence that
the defendant used physical foradnich left the court to determine whether the
rape had been committed using an implied threat of physical force that pl&:ed
in fearof serious physical injurgr death. 1d. at 726;seeAla. Code §8L3A-6-66,

13A-6-60(8).

13
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In deciding that the facts irowewere sufficient to prove that the defendant
had committed the crime of rape by forcible compulsion in violation of
8 13A-6-66(a)(1) the Alabama Supreme Court discussed several decisions by

other state supreme cour®ne of those decisionState v. Etheridge, 352 S.E.2d

673 (N.C. 1987)had“[held] that a child’s general fear of a parent can suffice as
the force necessary to commit a forcible sexual assative, 597 So2d at 726
(citing Etheridge 352 S.E.2d at 682). The North Carolina Supreme Caatt
explained that “[t]he child’s knowledge of his father's power may alone induce
fear sufficient to overcome his will to resist, and the child may acquiees ra
than risk his father’s wrath.Id. at 726-27 (quoting Etheridge852 S.E.2d at 681
82).

The Alabama Supreme CourtBowealso looked to a decision of the
Pemsylvania Supreme Coutat had{held] that the term ‘forcible compulsion,’
as used in Pennsylvania’s rape statute, includes not only physical force or violence
but also moral, psychological, or intellectual force used to compel a person to
engage in sexual intercourse against that person’s Wthwe 597 So2d at 72+

28 (citingCommonwealth v. Rhodes, 510 A.2d 121226(Pa. 198%). The

Pennsylvania Supreme Cobddreasoned that:

There is an element of forcible compulsion inherent in the
situation in which an adult who i&ith a child who is younger,
smaller, less psychologically and emotionally mature, and less
sophisticated than the adult, instructs the child to submit to the

14
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performance of sexual acts. This is especially so where the child
knows and trusts the adult. In such cases, forcible compulsion
derives from the respective capacities of the child and the adult
sufficient to induce the child to submit to the wishes of the adult
without the use of physical force or violence or the explicit threat of
physical force or violence

Id. (quotingRhodes510 A.2d at 1227) (second and third alternation in original)
(emphasis added).

The Alabama Supreme CoumtPowenoted that “[a]lthough there is
authority from other jurisdictions refusing to apply reasoning similar to that

employed in Etheridgeand Rhodds we find the reasoning applied Etheridge

and_Rhodeto be the most logical.ld. at 728(citation omitted) It concludedhat
“a jury could reasonably infer that Powe held a position of authordy an
domination with regard to his daughter sufficient to allow the inference of an
implied threat to her if she refused to comply with his demanidis. The court
explained that its holding was

limited to cases concerning the sexual assault of childreadbits

with whom the children are in a relationship of trust. Téeason for

the distinction between cases involving children as victims and those
involving adults as victims is the great influence and control that an
adult who plays a dominant role inchild’'s life may exert over the
child. When a defendant who plays an authoritative role in a child’s
world instructs the child to submit to certain acts, an implied threat of
some sort of disciplinary action accompanies the instructibrthe
victim is young, inexperienced, and perhaps ignorant of the
“wrongness” of the conduct, the child may submit to the acts because
the child assumes that the conduct is acceptable or because the child
does not have the capacity to refuskloreover, fear of th@arent
resulting from love or respect may play a role as great as or greater

15
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than that played by fear of threats of serious bodily harm in coercing a
child to submit to a sexual act.

Id. at 728-29 (emphasis added).

Davis contends that tHBowedecisionshows that an Alabama conviction for
sexual abuse by forcible compulsion does not necessarily include as an element the
use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against the person of
another: Reluctantly, we agree. Despite the statutory language requiring an
express or implied threat of “serious physical injury,” Boavedecision indicates
that where the victim is a child and the defendant is an authority figure in that
child’s life “an implied threat of some sort of disciplinary actiocan be sufficient
to support a conviction for sexual abuse by forcible compulsion even without

evidence that the defendant expressly or impliedly threatened serious physical

2 Because Davis did not cite tR®wedecision in the district court when arguing that his
first degree sexual abuse conviction did not qualify as a violent felony under G&'&\C
elements clause, the government codgethat we ought to review “[the] portion of Davis’s
argument . . built uporPowe only for plain error. Ater all, adefendant who fails to make a
“specific objection[] or argument[ ] . . in the district court” forfeits that objection or argument,
and we reviewhe issue only for plain errotJnited States v. Week%11 F.3d 1255, 1261 (11th
Cir. 2013);United States v. Masse$43 F.3d 814, 819 (11th Cir. 2006).

But the same is not true of a defendant’s failure to cite specific decsippsrtig an
objection or argumentSeeUnited States v. Irey, 612 F.3d 1160, 1215 n.33 (11th Cir. 2010) (en
banc) (rejecting the suggestion that “we should not consider [certain] decisiblesSafgreme
Court and this Court . .. [because] they were not citedthe district court. No member of this
Court . . . has ever before suggested that in determining the law we ought to confinestosel
the decisions that were cited in the district court. We, like all courts, have a diuny and
apply the corret law”). Once a defendant has sufficiently raised an issue for the distnitscou
consideration, he has preserved the issue for appeal. We do not require defaisiiagn
issuein the district courto cite everydecision that could support th@osition on that issue if it
arises on appeabavis preserved his argument in this case by objecting to the use of his first
degree sexual abuse conviction on the ground that it does not qualify as a violent feemy und
the ACCA'’s elements clause.

16
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injury or death.Id. at 729. Not all disciplinary actions involve violent forciaat
Is, force capable of causing physical pain or injury.

The government contends thrawe“has no application here” because that
decision is “narrow and faconfined.” Even so, the Supreme Court requires that
we are td‘presume that the state conviction rested upon the least of the acts

criminalized by the statuteEsquivetQuintana137 S.Ct. at 1564alterations and

guotation marks omitted). And the least of the acts criminalized by
8 13A-6-66(a)(1) is described in ti#owedecisionas an implicit threat not of
violence but of “some sort of disciplinary action,” or taking advantage of a child
who “assumes that the conduct is acceptable or because the child does not have the
capacity to refusé SeePowe 597 So2dat 728-29. Violent forcas not
necessary for any of those ways of violating 8 4366, much less for all of them.
The government argues that most of the language iRdhvedecision is

mere dictahat is not binding on Alabama courts or federal couseseEdwards v.

Prime,Inc., 602 F.3d 1276, 1298 (11th Cir. 201P] icta is not binding on

anyone for any purpose.”). The government argues th&adwedecision’s actual
holding is that where there is evidence the child victim was afraid of the defendant,
who is an adult in a position of domination and control over the child, a jury can

consider their relationship in finding that the defendant used forcible compulsion.

17
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The Poweopinion does contain some dicta, as many opinionsSé@Evans

v. Stephens407 F.3d 1272, 12993 (11th Cir. 2005)Carnes, J., concurring)

(“Indeed, when one looks for it, dicta appears to be scattered across the opinions
of this Court like wildflowersn a spring meadow.”). For example, the Alabama
Supreme Court wrote that “[i]f the victim is young, inexperienced, and perhaps
ignorant of théwrongnessof the conductthe child may submit to the acts
because the child assumes that the conduct is acceptRioe 597 So2d at

729. But there were no facts in thewedecision indicating that the victim
submitted because she thought the conduct was accepbaaie. at 722-23.
Instead, the facts supporting the finding of forcible compulsion were thatthe 40
yearold defendant was the dkarold victim’s father, they lived in the same
house, the victim was afraid of him, and they were alone in the house when he
sexually abused held. at 723, 728. So thHeowedecision’s discussion of a

victim submitting due to a mistaken belief that the conduct is saloeps
unquestionably dicta.

It is less clear whether tliowedecision’s discussion of “an implied threat
of some sort of disciplinary action” is dicta. The decision does not say what the
victim feared from her father it could have been physical force or sonneg
less. Seeid. at 723, 729. There are all kinds of parental disciplinary actions that

do not involve physical force. And even if that languag@aweis dicta, a later

18
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decision by the Alabama Supreme Court makes clear that a jury can find that the
defendant used forcible compulsion for purposes 184-6-66(a) even in the
absence of any use, attempt to use, or threat of using physical force.

In Higdon v. State197 So3d 1019, 1020 (Ala. 2015), the defendant was a

17-yearold intern at a day care facility. He performed oral sex oiy@a4old
student and was convicted of first degree sodomy by forcible compulsion.
Even though there was no evidence that the child feared him in angeeay.,
the Alabama Supreme Court held thatBlosvedecision applied and explained
that:
[R]egardless of the defendanage, when determining as a matter of
law the sufficiency of the evidence of an implied threat from which a
jury may infer the element of forcible compulsion, the trial court may
consider from the child victifs perspective, among other factors, the
difference in age or physical maturity between the defendant and the
child victim and the defenddstconduct and exercise of a position of
authority or control over the child victim.
Id. at 1022(emphasis omitted)
Under theHigdondecision, forcible compulsion for purposes of
8§ 13A-6-66(a) does not require the use, attempted use, or threatened use of
physical force against another person. AlthougiHigelondecision was issued in
2015, several years after Davis was convicted in 2011 of first degree sexual abuse,

it still controls our analysis of the elements of the state statute. “A judicial

construction of a statute is an authoritative statement of what the statute meant

19
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before as well as after the decision of the casagnse to that construction.”

Rivers v. Roadway Exp., Inc&511 U.S. 298, 31213, 114 SCt. 1510, 1519 (1994)

(footnote omitted)see alsdJnited States v. Seabrooks, 839 F.3d 1326, 1344 (11th

Cir. 2016) (“When the [state supreme court] interprets [a state] statute, it tells us
what that statute always meant.”)hélHigdondecision is a statement of what the
sexual abuse by forcible compulsion statute meant at the time Davis was convicted
of violating §13A-6-6623

The Alabama Supreme Court’s interpretation of forcible compulsion means
that Alabama’s statute defining sexual abuse by forcible compulsion does not
categorically include as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of
physical force, as that term is defined by federal |&&el18 U.S.C.

§ 924(e)(2)(B)(i)Johnson559 U.S. at 140, 130 &t.at 1271 As aresult, the

district court erred in concluding that Davis’ Alabama conviction for first degree

sexual abuse was a violent felony under the ACCA's elements clause.

® TheHigdon decision did overrule another Alabama Supreme Court decision
interpreting another facet of ti®wedecision. The overruled decision, Ex parte J.A.P., 853
So. 2d 280, 284 (Ala. 2002), had held tRatvedid not apply in cases involving the saku
assault of children by other children. The J.Al&ision never set out the “least oé thcts
criminalized’by 8 13A-6-66(a)(1), Esquivel-Quintana, 137 S. Ct. at 1&#@rations and
guotation marks omitted), because it held that in those typese$ the State had to prove
something more than it had to prove in cases involving adults using forcible compulsion on
children. The J.A.P. decision has no relevance to the question before us of whether sexual abus
by forcible compulsion is a violent felony.

* Our decision is not inconsistent with this Court’s recent decision in United $tates
Vail-Bailon, 868 F.3d 1293 (11th Cir. 201{n banc) The non-violent force situations put
forward by the defendant in thaasewere, in the majority’s viewfarfetched ones that had never
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We realize, of course, that the facts in this case do not involve a chiilebr
victimized by an adult in a position of authority in that child’s life. The transcript
of the plea hearing, which we have looked at as part of the modified categorical
approach, shows that the victim was 17 years old and does not indicate that the
defendant was related to the victim or otherwise had a position of authority over
her. But the true facts matter little, if at all, in this odd area of the $&®aeTaylor,
495 U.S. at 600, 110 S. Ct. at 2158, 799 F.3d at 1322

Davis’ sentence iI¥ACATED and the case REMANDED for

resentencing withduhe ACCA sentence enhancement.

led to a prosecution and were extremely unlikely to ever déds@at 1305—07. Unfortunately,
as thePowe Higdon, Etheridge, and Rhodessesiemonstrate, the sexual abuse of a child by
someame in a position of authority ovénechild is anything but farfetched; tragically, it occurs
with some regularity SeeFacts and Statistict).S. Dep’t of Justice, https://www.nsopw.gov/en-
US/Education/FactsStatistifast visitedNov. 7, 2017) (providing that “approximately 1 in 6
boys and 1 in 4 girls are sexually abused before the age of 18,” and that about 90% of
perpetrators of child sexual abuse eitieafamily members of, or are otherwise known to, the
child). And inVail-Bailonthere was no state suprecwurt decision indicatinthat the statute

in that casevould applyto the non-violent factual scenarios the defendant posedhis case,
however, Alabama Supreme Court decisiesimblishithat Alabama’ssexual abuse by forcible
compulsion statute applies to conduct that does not necessarily include the ugpteattsa, or
threatened use of physical forgéf. Powe 597 So. 2d at 728-29; Higdon, 197 So. 3d at 1022.

We do not join and, in fact, disagree wilie criticisms that our concurring colleague
makes of then banc decision iail-Bailon.
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ROSENBAUM, Circuit Judge, concurring in all but parts of footnote 4 in the panel

opinion:

Though | concur generally in the panel opinion, | write separately toiexpla
why | cannot join parts of footnote 4. | disagree that, when the facts and law we
considered inUnited States v. VaBailon, 868 F.3d 1293, 136067 (11th Cir.
2017) (en banc), are properly accounted f&fail-Bailon is materially
distinguishabldrom the case here Specifically, | take issue with two of footnote
4’'s statements: (1) “The nenolent force situations put forward by the defendant
in [Vail-Bailon] were, in the majority’s view, farfetched ones that had never led to
a prosecution and were extremely unlikely to ever do so.” Maj. Op.-ai 204
(citing Vail-Bailon, 868 F.3d at 13087); and (2) “And inVail-Bailon there was
no state supreme court decision indicating that the statute in that case would apply
to the nonviolent factual scenarios the defendant posdd.”at 21 n.4. | continue
to believe thavail-Bailon was decided incorrectly.

In Vail-Bailon, we considered whether Florida felony battery qualifies as a
“crime of violence” under the elements clausElorida felony battery has two
elements: a person must (1) “[aJctually and intentionally touch[] or strike[]

another person against the will of the other;” and (2) “[c]lause[] great bodily, harm

! acknowledge, however, that the facts here are materially distinguishablédwe the
Court described the facts and law at issu¥ail-Bailon, and | agree that we are bound by the
prior-precedent rule, regardless of my view of our resolutioadfBailon.
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permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement.” Fla. Stat. § 784.041(1). As the
panel opinion acknowledges and | have more thoroughly explained Maiiy
Bailon dissent,Vail-Bailon, 868 F.3d at 13123 (Rosenbaum, J., dissenting), the
Supreme Court itself has held that the first element of this crime does not satisfy
the elements clause’s “physical force” requirement because it does not require
“violent force” when committed by mertouch. SeeMaj. Op. at 12 (citing
Johnson v. United StateS59 U.S. 133, 1340 (2010)). And the second element
cannot supply the necessary “physical force” because it does not demamskthe
of “physical force” as the Supreme Court has construedniemning of “use” in
the elements clause.See VaiBailon, 868 F.3d at 13188 (Rosenbaum, J.,
dissenting) (citingLeocal v. Ashcroft 543 U.S. 1 (2004)United States v.
Castleman134 S. Ct. 1405 (2014), anbisine v. United Stated36 S. Ct. 2272
(2016)).

As relevant in responding to the panel’s statements in footnote 4there,
Vail-Bailon majority opinion tried to overcome these problems in two ways. First,
it argued that grievous bodily injury as required by the second element of felony
battery cannot occur as the result of a mere touching, except in the case of
“farfetched hypotheticals,” so it is practically impossible to commit felony battery
by mere touch.Vail-Bailon, 868 F.3d at 1306. And second, it asserted that even if

felony battery cald occur by mere touch, Florida would not prosecute such cases.
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Id. at 1306 (“Nor has VaiBailon shown that prosecution under Florida Statute §
784.041 for the conduct described in the hypotheticals is a realistic probability.”).
With respect to theargument that felony battery by mere touch cannot
realistically occur, that assumption, as a matter ofactd as many emergency
room doctors can attests simply not correct. As | have previously noted,
“everyday experience tells us an unexpected tcachresult in a start that causes a
person to jerk involuntarily and sometimes, consequently, to injure himself.
Indeed, some people tap or tickle another just to see their involuntary reactions,
though they no doubt think at the time that they are engagiharmless pranks.”
Id. at 1320 (Rosenbaum, J., dissenting).

So to firm up its conclusion that Florida felony battery necessarily always
involves the “use of physical force,” the Court\ail-Bailon next asserted that
Florida would not prosecute @&ssof felony battery involving mere touchd. at
1306 (“Nor has VaiBailon shown that prosecution under Florida Statute §
784.041 for the conduct described in the hypotheticals is a realistic probability.”).
Three points undermine that conclusion.

First, Florida courts have been clear in concluding that a prosecution under §
784.041 requires no showing that the defendant intended to harm another or had
reason to know that harm would resufiee T.S. v. Stat@65 So. 2d 1288, 12981

(Fla. 2d Dist. CtApp. 2007);Jefferies v. Staie849 So. 2d 401, 404 (Fla. 2d Dist.
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Ct. App. 2003) (“Felony battery is clearly a species of the specific intent crime of
battery . . ., but with resulting anshintendedyreat bodily harm”)receded from

on other groundsyHall v. State951 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 2d Dist. Ct. App. 2007). For

this reason, the mere fact that a person may not have intended or even had reason
to expect harm from his mere touch of another does not shield him from
prosecution under § 784.041 if his acts did, in fact, result in serious bodily injury.

Second, only a handful of the numerous cases prosecuted under § 784.041
have published opinions in them. As a result, we have no way of knowing the
scope of what Florida has actually prosecuted under that statute.

And finally, because grievous bodily injury can and does at times result from
mere touch, and because § 784.041 requires no showing that the defendant
intended to cause or had reason to believe his actions would cause harm, it is clear
that Flaida could prosecute a mere touch that resulted in serious bodily injury
under § 784.041. Nothing more is required. As we have explained, a petitioner
does not engage in “legal imagination” “when #tatutory language itself . .
creates the ‘realistiprobability’ that a state would apply the statute” to the
identified least culpable conduct,” regardless of whether it actually has done so.
Ramos v. U.S. Att'y Gen709 F.3d 1066, 10722 (11th Cir. 2013) (emphasis

added).
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For these reasons, | respectfully suggest that if, in the CotatlsBailon
opinion, we had properly accounted for the facts and law at issue in that case, we

would find the facts here to be materially indistinguishable from those there.
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